IEEE Standard for Extruded and Laminated Dielectric Shielded Cable Joints Rated 2500 V to 500 000 V

Sponsor

Insulated Conductors Committee of the IEEE Power Engineering Society

Approved 21 September 2000

IEEE-SA Standards Board

Abstract: This standard establishes electrical ratings and test requirements of cable joints used with extruded and laminated dielectric shielded cable rated in preferred voltage steps from 2500 V to 500 000 V. It also defines a variety of common joint constructions. This standard is designed to provide uniform testing procedures that can be used by manufacturers and users to evaluate the ability of underground power cable joints to perform reliably in service.

Keywords: cable joints, dielectric integrity tests, extruded dielectric cable, impulse withstand voltage (BIL), laminated dielectric cable, sheath/shield sectionalizers, transition joints, withstand voltage

 Print:
 ISBN 0-7381-2607-1
 SH94876

 PDF:
 ISBN 0-7381-2608-X
 SS94876

No part of this publication may be reproduced in any form, in an electronic retrieval system or otherwise, without the prior written permission of the publisher.

The Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc. 3 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10016-5997, USA

Copyright © 2001 by the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc. All rights reserved. Published 13 July 2001. Printed in the United States of America.

IEEE Standards documents are developed within the IEEE Societies and the Standards Coordinating Committees of the IEEE Standards Association (IEEE-SA) Standards Board. The IEEE develops its standards through a consensus development process, approved by the American National Standards Institute, which brings together volunteers representing varied viewpoints and interests to achieve the final product. Volunteers are not necessarily members of the Institute and serve without compensation. While the IEEE administers the process and establishes rules to promote fairness in the consensus development process, the IEEE does not independently evaluate, test, or verify the accuracy of any of the information contained in its standards.

Use of an IEEE Standard is wholly voluntary. The IEEE disclaims liability for any personal injury, property or other damage, of any nature whatsoever, whether special, indirect, consequential, or compensatory, directly or indirectly resulting from the publication, use of, or reliance upon this, or any other IEEE Standard document.

The IEEE does not warrant or represent the accuracy or content of the material contained herein, and expressly disclaims any express or implied warranty, including any implied warranty of merchantability or fitness for a specific purpose, or that the use of the material contained herein is free from patent infringement. IEEE Standards documents are supplied "AS IS."

The existence of an IEEE Standard does not imply that there are no other ways to produce, test, measure, purchase, market, or provide other goods and services related to the scope of the IEEE Standard. Furthermore, the viewpoint expressed at the time a standard is approved and issued is subject to change brought about through developments in the state of the art and comments received from users of the standard. Every IEEE Standard is subjected to review at least every five years for revision or reaffirmation. When a document is more than five years old and has not been reaffirmed, it is reasonable to conclude that its contents, although still of some value, do not wholly reflect the present state of the art. Users are cautioned to check to determine that they have the latest edition of any IEEE Standard.

In publishing and making this document available, the IEEE is not suggesting or rendering professional or other services for, or on behalf of, any person or entity. Nor is the IEEE undertaking to perform any duty owed by any other person or entity to another. Any person utilizing this, and any other IEEE Standards document, should rely upon the advice of a competent professional in determining the exercise of reasonable care in any given circumstances.

Interpretations: Occasionally questions may arise regarding the meaning of portions of standards as they relate to specific applications. When the need for interpretations is brought to the attention of IEEE, the Institute will initiate action to prepare appropriate responses. Since IEEE Standards represent a consensus of concerned interests, it is important to ensure that any interpretation has also received the concurrence of a balance of interests. For this reason, IEEE and the members of its societies and Standards Coordinating Committees are not able to provide an instant response to interpretation requests except in those cases where the matter has previously received formal consideration.

Comments for revision of IEEE Standards are welcome from any interested party, regardless of membership affiliation with IEEE. Suggestions for changes in documents should be in the form of a proposed change of text, together with appropriate supporting comments. Comments on standards and requests for interpretations should be addressed to:

Secretary, IEEE-SA Standards Board 445 Hoes Lane P.O. Box 1331 Piscataway, NJ 08855-1331 USA

Note: Attention is called to the possibility that implementation of this standard may require use of subject matter covered by patent rights. By publication of this standard, no position is taken with respect to the existence or validity of any patent rights in connection therewith. The IEEE shall not be responsible for identifying patents for which a license may be required by an IEEE standard or for conducting inquiries into the legal validity or scope of those patents that are brought to its attention.

IEEE is the sole entity that may authorize the use of certification marks, trademarks, or other designations to indicate compliance with the materials set forth herein.

Authorization to photocopy portions of any individual standard for internal or personal use is granted by the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., provided that the appropriate fee is paid to Copyright Clearance Center. To arrange for payment of licensing fee, please contact Copyright Clearance Center, Customer Service, 222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, MA 01923 USA; (978) 750-8400. Permission to photocopy portions of any individual standard for educational classroom use can also be obtained through the Copyright Clearance Center.

Introduction

(This introduction is not part of IEEE Std 404-2000, IEEE Standard for Extruded and Laminated Dielectric Shielded Cable Joints Rated 2500 V to 500 000 V.)

This revision of IEEE Std 404-1993 now includes a test protocol for joints used on extruded dielectric cables rated $161\,000$ V to $500\,000$ V with a corresponding change in the title of the standard. In addition, this latest revision has adopted the ac voltage design levels specified in the international standards IEC 60502-4 and IEC 60840 for the "high voltage time test."

Future revisions of this standard will address the increasing interest in extruded dielectric cable systems with reduced insulation wall thicknesses and with temperature ratings of $105^{\circ}C$ (normal operation)/140 °C (emergency operation).

The work of preparing this standard was carried out by Task Force B2W (formerly Group 10-27 of the Accessories Subcommittee #10) of the Insulated Conductors Committee of the IEEE Power Engineering Society. At the time this standard was approved, the task force had the following membership:

Glenn J. Luzzi, Chair Frank DiGugliemo, Vice-Chair

Thomas C. Champion, III Philip Cox Chinh Dang Russ Dantzler Frank DiGuglielmo John P. DuPont George Foote Robert D. Fulcomer Daniel Fournier Wolfgang Haverkamp Harry Hayes Stanley R. Howell Roy Jazowski Donald Jondahl Carlos Katz Gael Kennedy Patrick Lyons John M. Makal Jim Markham Jean Marquez Serge Pelissou Alain Pinet Jim Ripper Roger A. Schoneman Abe Shockett Gilbert L. Smith Matt Spalding Gregory Stano Frank Stepniak Bill Taylor Duc Trinh Carl Wentzel

The following persons were on the balloting committee:

Torben Aabo	Robert B. Gear	Arthur V. Pack, Jr.
Theodore A. Balaska	Richard L. Harp	Neal K. Parker
Earle C. Bascom, III	Wolfgang B. Haverkamp	Ronald J. Ponist
Martin Baur	Stanley V. Heyer	Dennis C. Pratt
Michael G. Bayer	Lauri J. Hiivala	Robert A. Resuali
Kenneth E. Bow	Stanley R. Howell	Gilbert L. Smith
Kent W. Brown	Richard A. Huber	Peter W. Spencer
Paul S. Cardello	Edward Jankowich	Nagu N. Srinivas
Jack E. Cherry	C. Katz	John Tanaka
John H. Cooper	Frank L. Kuchta	Duc B. Trinh
James M. Daly	Carl Landinger	Daniel J. Ward
Russ C. Dantzler	Gabor Ludasi	Roland H. W. Watkins
John R. Densley	Glenn J. Luzzi	Carl J. Wentzel
John P. DuPont	John M. Makal	William D. Wilkens
Arthur R. Fitzpatrick	J.D. Medek	Joseph T. Zimnoch
Robert E. Fleming	Gary L. Michel	

When the IEEE-SA Standards Board approved this standard on 21 September 2000, it had the following membership:

Donald N. Heirman, Chair James T. Carlo, Vice-Chair Judith Gorman, Secretary

Satish K. Aggarwal Mark D. Bowman Gary R. Engmann Harold E. Epstein H. Landis Floyd Jay Forster* Howard M. Frazier Ruben D. Garzon James H. Gurney Richard J. Holleman Lowell G. Johnson Robert J. Kennelly Joseph L. Koepfinger* Peter H. Lips L. Bruce McClung Daleep C. Mohla James W. Moore Robert F. Munzner Ronald C. Petersen Gerald H. Peterson John B. Posey Gary S. Robinson Akio Tojo Donald W. Zipse

*Member Emeritus

Also included are the following nonvoting IEEE-SA Standards Board liaisons:

Alan Cookson, *NIST Representative* Donald R. Volzka, *TAB Representative*

Noelle D. Humenick IEEE Standards Project Editor

Contents

1.	Scope						
2.	Refe	rences					
3.	Defi	nitions					
	3.1	Cable joint types					
	3.2	Cable joint constructions					
	3.3	Other terms					
4.	Serv	ice conditions					
	4.1	Usual service conditions					
	4.2	Unusual service conditions					
5.	Rati	ngs4					
	5.1	Voltage ratings					
	5.2	Current and temperature ratings					
6.	Cons	struction4					
	6.1	Identification					
	6.2	Shielding					
	6.3	Sheath/shield sectionalizers					
7.	Testi	ng6					
	7.1	Production tests					
	7.2	Design tests and testing sequence					
	7.3	Design test conditions					
	7.4	Dielectric integrity tests					
	7.5	Withstand tests					
	7.6	Short-time current test					
	7.7	Cyclic aging test for extruded dielectric and transition joints11					
	7.8	High-voltage time test					
	7.9	Sectionalizer tests					
	7.10	Shielding tests					
	7.11	Connector thermal and mechanical tests					
	Ann	ex A (informative) Bibliography					

IEEE Standard for Extruded and Laminated Dielectric Shielded Cable Joints Rated 2500 V to 500 000 V

1. Scope

This standard establishes electrical ratings and test requirements of cable joints used with extruded and laminated dielectric shielded cables rated in preferred voltage steps from 2500 V to 500 000 V. It also defines a variety of common joint constructions.

Joints that connect more than two cables or connect cables with two different conductor sizes are not covered by this standard. However, manufacturers and users are encouraged to use appropriate parts of this standard to evaluate these joints.

2. References

This standard shall be used in conjunction with the following references.

AEIC CS1-90, Specifications for Impregnated-Paper-Insulated Metallic Sheathed Cable, Solid Type (Withdrawn).¹

AEIC CS2-97, Specification for Impregnated Paper and Laminated Paper Polypropylene Insulated Cable, High-Pressure-Pipe Type.

AEIC CS3-90, Specifications for Impregnated-Paper-Insulated Metallic Sheathed Cable, Low Pressure Gas-Filled Type.

AEIC CS4-93, Specifications for Impregnated-Paper-Insulated Low and Medium Pressure Self-Contained Liquid Filled Cable.

AEIC CS5-94, Specifications for Cross-linked Polyethylene Insulated Shielded Power Cables Rated 5 Through 46 kV.

¹AEIC publications are available from the Association of Edison Illuminating Companies, 600 N. 18th Street, P.O. Box 2641, Birmingham, AL 35291-0992, USA (http://www.aeic.org/). AEIC publications are also available from Global Engineering Documents, 15 Inverness Way East, Englewood, Colorado 80112-5704, USA (http://global.ihs.com/).

AEIC CS6-96, Specifications for Ethylene Propylene Rubber Insulated Shielded Power Cables Rated 5 Through 69 kV.

AEIC CS7-93, Specifications for Crosslinked Polyethylene Insulated Shielded Power Cables Rated 69 Through 138 kV.

ANSI C119.4-1991, Electric Connectors—Connectors for Use Between Aluminum-to-Aluminum or Aluminum-to-Copper Bare Overhead Connectors.²

ICEA P-32-382 (1999), Short-Circuit Characteristics of Insulated Cable.³

IEEE Std 4-1995, IEEE Standard Techniques for High Voltage Testing.⁴

IEEE Std 82-1994, IEEE Test Procedure for Impulse Voltage Tests on Insulated Conductors.

IEEE Std 592-1990(R1996), IEEE Standard for Exposed Semiconducting Shields on High-Voltage Joints and Separable Insulated Connectors.

IEEE Std C37.09-1979 (Reaff 1988), IEEE Standard Test Procedure for AC High-Voltage Circuit Breakers Rated on a Symmetrical Current Basis.

NEMA WC4-1988/ICEA S-65-375, Varnished-Cloth-Insulated Wire and Cable for the Transmission and Distribution of Electrical Energy.⁵

3. Definitions

The following definitions are provided to describe terms used in this standard. They may or may not conform to other definitions used to describe cable joints. For definitions of other terms used in this standard, see IEEE 100, The Authoritative Dictionary of IEEE Standards Terms, Seventh Edition [B5].⁶

3.1 Cable joint types

Cable joints are generally described by one of the categories that follow. These descriptive categories are provided only for convenience. They are not intended to cover all possible joint constructions. Some joint constructions may incorporate characteristics of two or more of the design types listed.

3.1.1 extruded: A joint in which both cables are insulated with extruded dielectric materials rated 2.5 kV to 500 kV.

3.1.2 laminated: A joint in which both cables have a dielectric that consists of fluid-impregnated paper or paper/synthetic laminated tape, or varnished cloth.

3.1.3 transition: A joint that connects an extruded dielectric cable to a laminated dielectric cable.

²ANSI publications are available from the Sales Department, American National Standards Institute, 11 West 42nd Street, 13th Floor, New York, NY 10036, USA (http://www.ansi.org/).

³ICEA publications are available from ICEA, P.O. Box 20048, Minneapolis, MN 55420, USA (http://www.icea.org/).

⁴IEEE publications are available from the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, 445 Hoes Lane, P.O. Box 1331, Piscataway, NJ 08855-1331, USA (http://standards.ieee.org/).

⁵NEMA publications are available from Global Engineering Documents, 15 Inverness Way East, Englewood, Colorado 80112, USA (http://global.ihs.com/).

⁶The numbers in brackets correspond to those in the Bibliography in Annex A.

3.2 Cable joint constructions

3.2.1 cold shrink: A joint that consists of a tube or a series of tubes that are applied over the conductor and reduced in diameter over the cable without the use of heat.

3.2.2 field vulcanized: A joint that is constructed in the field with externally applied heat and pressure to cross-link the joint dielectric.

3.2.3 filled: A joint that consists of an outer shell that is filled with an insulating material to occupy the space around the individual insulated conductor(s).

3.2.4 heat shrink: A joint that consists of a tube or a series of tubes that are applied over the conductor and reduced in diameter over the cable with the use of externally applied heat.

3.2.5 premolded: A joint that is factory molded in the shape that it will take when installed. Installation is performed by sliding the joint over the cable. The use of heat is not a part of the installation procedure.

3.2.6 taped: A joint, that is constructed in the field with the use of one or more tapes that are applied over the cable layers. Heat may or may not be applied as part of the installation procedure.

3.3 Other terms

3.3.1 sectionalizer, sheath or shield: A sectionalizer is used to minimize induced current in the cable metallic sheath/shield by electrically interrupting the semiconducting shield and conducting metallic sheath or shield of two cable lengths that are joined together. Sectionalizers are primarily used on cable systems operating at 60 kV and above as described in ANSI/IEEE Std 575 (Withdrawn) [B1].⁷

4. Service conditions

4.1 Usual service conditions

Cable joints shall be suitable for use under the following service conditions:

- a) In air, including exposure to direct sunlight
- b) Buried in earth
- c) Intermittently or continuously submerged in water at a depth not exceeding 7 m
- d) Environmental temperatures within the range of -30° C to $+50^{\circ}$ C
- e) In underground chambers, tunnels, and vaults
- f) Approximately horizontal installation of laminated dielectric joints rated 69–500 kV

NOTE—Since neither the production tests nor the design tests included in this specification will insure operation at all "usual" service conditions, it is incumbent upon the manufacturer to utilize appropriate materials and designs that will insure joint functionality at the extremes noted.

⁷ANSI/IEEE Std 575-1984 has been withdrawn; however, copies can be obtained from Global Engineering, 15 Inverness Way East, Englewood, CO 80112-5704, USA, tel. (303) 792-2181 (http://www.global.ihs.com/).

4.2 Unusual service conditions

Conditions other than those listed in 4.1 are considered to be unusual. The manufacturer should be consulted for recommendations.

5. Ratings

5.1 Voltage ratings

The voltage ratings and test levels of cable joints shall be in accordance with Table 1, Table 2, and Table 3.

5.2 Current and temperature ratings

The current and temperature ratings of the cable joint shall be equal to or greater than those of the cable for which it is designed as verified in 7.6, 7.7, 7.11 and the emergency operating temperature test of 7.5.3. For transition joints, the maximum temperature rating is based on the cable with the lower temperature limit.

6. Construction

6.1 Identification

Cable joints shall be permanently and legibly identified with the following information:

- a) Company name or logo
- b) Part identification
- c) Date of manufacture (month and year)

Table 1—Voltage ratings and test levels for extruded dielectric cable joints rated 2.5–35 kV

Voltage	Voltage	Basic				DC	Minimum partial
rating phase-to- phase, U (kV rms) ^a	rating phase-to- ground, U ₀ (kV rms) ^b	insulation level (BIL) and full wave (kV crest)	Column A 1 min (kV rms)	Column B 5 min @4.5 U ₀ (kV rms)	Column C 5h @3.5 U ₀ (kV rms)	DC withstand voltage 15 min (kV)	discharge (corona) voltage level, 1.5 U ₀ (kV rms) ^c
2.5	1.4	60	9	6	5	30	2
5	2.9	75	18	13	10	35	5
8	4.6	95	23	21	16	45	7
15	8.7	110	35	39	31	70	13
25	14.4	150	52	65	50	100	22
35	20.2	200	69	91	71	125	30

^aFor use with 100% insulation level cable as defined in the applicable AEIC CS5-94 or AEIC CS6-96. To obtain test values for voltage classes that are not listed, use linear interpolation between the next higher and lower listed values and round off to the nearest whole kV.

^bFor grounded systems.

^cBased on a sensitivity of 3 pC.

Voltage	Voltage	Voltage DH LC II AC withstand voltage		and voltage		Minimum partial
rating phase- to-phase, U (kV rms) ^a	rating phase- to-ground, U ₀ (kV rms) ^b	BIL and full wave (kV crest)	Column A 15 min @3 U ₀ (kV rms)	Column B 6h @2.5 U ₀ (kV rms)	DC withstand voltage 15 min (kV)	discharge (corona) voltage level, 1.5 U ₀ (kV rms) ^c
46	26.6	250	80	80 ^d	165	40
69	39.8	350	120	100	240	60
115	66.4	550	200	166	300	100
138	79.7	650	240	200	315	120
161	93.0	750	280	232	375	140
230	132.8	1050	400	332	525	200
345	199.2	1300	600	500	650	300
500	288.7	1550	870	725	775	435

Table 2—Voltage ratings and test levels for extruded dielectric cable joints rated 46–500 kV

^aFor use with 100% insulation level cable as defined in the applicable AEIC CS5-94, AEIC CS6-96 or AEIC CS7-93. To obtain test values for voltage classes that are not listed, use linear interpolation between the next higher and lower listed values and round off to the nearest whole kV.

^bFor grounded systems.

^cBased on a sensitivity of 3 pC.

^dRepresents 3 times U_0 .

Table 3—Voltage ratings and test levels for laminated cable joints

Voltage rating	Voltage rating	BIL and full	AC with	hstand test ^c	DC withstand
phase-to-phase, U (kV rms) ^a	phase-to-ground, U_0 (kV rms) ^b	wave (kV crest)	Time (h)	Voltage (kV rms)	voltage 15 min (kV) ^d
2.5	1.4	60	6	8	30
5.0	2.9	75	6	16	38
8.7	5.0	95	6	20	48
15	8.7	110	6	35	55
25	14.4	150	6	58	75
35	20.2	200	6	80	100
46	26.6	250	6	110	125
69	39.8	350	24	100	175
115	66.4	450	24	170	225
120	69.3	550	24	170	275
138	79.7	650	24	200	325
161	93.0	750	24	230	375
230	132.8	1050	24	330	525
345	199.2	1300	24	500	650
500	288.7	1550	24	720	775

^aFor use with 100% insulation level cable as defined in AEIC CS1-90, AEIC CS2-97, AEIC CS3-90, or AEIC CS4-93. To obtain test values for voltage classes that are not listed, use linear interpolation between the next higher and lower listed values and round off to the nearest whole kV.

^bFor grounded systems.

^cWhere this test voltage or test procedure differs from the applicable AEIC specification, the latter shall apply.

^dVoltages represent 0.5 times the BIL.

Joints that cannot accommodate this information shall be supplied with a label that contains this information. The manufacturer shall also provide a method of securely attaching the label to the outside of the joint after it is assembled in the field unless otherwise specified by the user. In all cases, the identification shall be legible for the life of the joint.

In addition, the following information must be contained on either the joint, the joint components, or the packaging material:

- a) "Use before" date, if applicable
- b) Maximum phase-to-phase voltage rating
- c) Cable insulation diameter range

If the joint consists of a kit that contains a variety of materials manufactured at different times, then the date of manufacture shall be the date that the kit is packaged.

6.2 Shielding

Cable joints shall have a shielding system that is capable of maintaining the outer surface of the joint effectively at ground potential.

6.3 Sheath/shield sectionalizers

Sectionalizers shall be mechanically rugged and resistant to moisture entry. They shall be designed to withstand the voltage stresses applied to them during normal, fault, lightning, and switching surge conditions.

7. Testing

7.1 Production tests

The following production tests shall be performed by the manufacturer of 100% on all premolded and cold-shrink joints produced:

- a) Partial discharge (corona) voltage level (see 7.4.1)
- b) AC withstand or full-wave impulse withstand voltage (see 7.5.1 and 7.5.3)

7.2 Design tests and testing sequence

Table 4, Table 5, and Table 6 list the sequence of design tests required by this standard.

The design tests listed in Table 4, Table 5, or Table 6 shall be performed on extruded, transition, or laminated dielectric cable joints respectively. All design tests shall be performed on production units (or production materials if the joints are fabricated in the field) to demonstrate compliance of the design with this standard. The results of these tests shall be recorded in the form of a report certifying that a joint design meets the requirements of this standard. The report shall be available from the manufacturer upon request.

	D		Minimu	m number	of samples	required	uired
Design test	Reference	3	3(2) ^a	3(2) ^b	3(1) ^c	3	4
Partial discharge (corona) voltage level	7.4.1	Х					
AC withstand voltage	7.5.1	Х					
DC withstand voltage	7.5.2	Х					
Impulse withstand voltage at 25 °C	7.5.3	Х					
Impulse withstand voltage at emergency temperature	7.5.3	Х					
Partial discharge (corona) voltage level	7.4.1	Х	Х	Х			
Cyclic aging (in air and water)	7.7.1 7.7.2		X	Х			
Partial discharge (corona) voltage level	7.4.1		Х	Х			
High-voltage time	7.8		Х	Х			
Sectionalizer test (if applicable)	7.9		Х	Х			
Short-time current	7.6				Х		
AC withstand voltage	7.5.1				Х		
Shielding	7.10					Х	
Connector thermal and mechanical	7.11						Х

Table 4—Design tests and sequence for extruded dielectric cable joints

^aFor cyclic aging in air, three samples are required for $2.5-35 \,\text{kV}$ joints according to 7.7.1 and two samples are required for 46–500 kV joints according to 7.7.2.

^bFor cyclic aging in water, three samples are required for 2.5-35 kV joints according to 7.7.1 and two samples are required for 46-500 kV joints according to 7.7.2. (The two 46-500 kV samples in water are not required if the joint design incorporates a solid metal housing that is welded or soldered to a solid cable sheath or pipe.)

 $^{\rm c} One$ sample is required for 46–500 kV joints.

	D.C.	Minimum number of samples required			
Design test	Reference		2	4	
AC withstand voltage	7.5.1	Х			
DC withstand voltage	7.5.2	Х			
Impulse withstand voltage at 25 °C	7.5.3	Х			
Impulse withstand voltage at emergency temperature	7.5.3	Х			
Ionization	7.4.2	Х			
Cyclic aging (in air and water)	7.7.2	Х			
Ionization	7.4.2	Х			
High-voltage time	7.8	Х			
Sectionalizer (if applicable)	7.9	Х			
Shielding	7.10		Х		
Connector thermal and mechanical	7.11			Х	

Table 5—Design tests and sequence for transition joints

^aTwo samples are required in air and two samples are required in water. (The two samples in water are not required if the joint design incorporates a solid metal housing that is welded or soldered to a solid cable sheath or pipe.)

	Defermen	Minimum number of samples required		
Design test	Reference	3(1) ^a	4	
AC withstand voltage	7.5.1	Х		
DC withstand voltage	7.5.2	Х		
Impulse withstand voltage at emergency temperature	7.5.3	Х		
Connector thermal and mechanical	7.11		Х	

Table 6—Design tests and sequence for laminated dielectric cable joints

^aThree samples are required for 2.5–35 kV joints and one sample is required for 46–500 kV joints.

7.3 Design test conditions

The following design test conditions shall apply unless otherwise specified:

- a) Cable joints shall be properly assembled with actual production components according to the manufacturer's instructions. All parts that are normally grounded shall be connected to the ground of the test circuit.
- b) Environmental (ambient air) temperature shall be between 10° C and 40° C.
- c) All ac voltages shall have a frequency of $60 \text{ Hz} \pm 5\%$ or $50 \text{ Hz} \pm 5\%$, and a sine wave shape of acceptable commercial standards as defined in IEEE Std 4-1995.
- d) Voltages shall be measured in accordance with IEEE Std 4-1995.
- e) The cable used in these tests should conform to the applicable AEIC standards. Insulation thickness shall be in accordance with AEIC standards for the 100% insulation level. Unless otherwise stated, the smallest nominal diameter cable for which the cable joint is designed should be used if practical. The exception to this is the short-time current test (see 7.6), in which case the largest nominal conductor for which the cable joint is designed should be used if practical. If testing is performed on cable not conforming to AEIC standards it is incumbent on the manufacturer to insure that the tests are at least as severe on the joint as would be the case on the appropriate AEIC cable. In this case the cable construction and corresponding cable standard must be referenced in the joint test report.
- f) If a cable failure occurs during a design test, the failed cable may be reterminated provided that the minimum specified distance between the joint and the termination is met. The test shall be resumed by repeating the step during which the cable failed. If the minimum length cannot be met, the joint on the failed cable or a new joint shall be assembled on a new cable and the design test shall be repeated.
- g) If a joint failure occurs during a design test, all qualification tests must be repeated.

7.4 Dielectric integrity tests

7.4.1 Partial discharge (corona) voltage level test

This procedure is used as a production test for premolded and cold shrink joints. It is also part of the design test sequence for all joints intended for use on extruded dielectric cables. The purpose of this test is to verify that the partial discharge (corona) voltage level of the test specimen is not less than the

value given in Table 1 or Table 2. The test voltage shall be raised to 20% above the partial discharge voltage level specified in Table 1 or Table 2. If partial discharge exceeds 3 pC, the test voltage shall be lowered to the partial discharge voltage level specified in Table 1 or Table 2 and shall be maintained at this level for at least 3 s but not more than 1 min. If partial discharge readings still exceed 3 pC, the joint design does not meet the requirements of this standard.

7.4.2 Ionization test

This test is applicable only for transition joints. The purpose of this test is to verify that the ionization factor of transition joints remains within the limits specified in Table 7. For joints that contain a laminated cable, the ionization factor is the difference, at 50 Hz or 60 Hz, between the dielectric power factor measured at an average stress in the cable of 4000 V/mm and the dielectric power factor measured at an average stress of 800 V/mm. The measurement voltage is based on the insulation thickness of the laminated cable.

The measurement shall be made at ambient temperature.

For joints on self-contained or pipe-type cables, the ionization factor is defined as the difference, at 60 Hz, between the dielectric power factor measured at $1.2 U_0$, and the dielectric power factor measured at $0.125 U_0$. U_0 , the phase-to-ground voltage, shall be that of the cable with the lower rating.

If the measured value is outside the limits specified in Table 7, the joint design does not meet the requirements of this standard.

This test is not required for joints that employ nonlinear, high dielectric constant or impedance layer materials. However, the manufacturer shall demonstrate that the nonlinear material is stable and will perform effectively over the life of the joint.

7.5 Withstand tests

The purpose of these tests is to verify that the insulation of the test specimen is not defective and will withstand the voltages shown in Table 1, Table 2, and Table 3. Some of the tests are used as both production and design tests.

These tests are applicable for extruded dielectric cable joints, laminated dielectric cable joints, and transition joints. The test voltage shall be applied to the parts of the cable joint that are energized in service.

For transition cable joints, all electrical test values are based on the cable with the lower test requirements.

Joints connecting paper-insulated lead-covered (PILC) cable		Joints connecting self-contained and high-pressure pipe-type cables		
Rated voltage (kV)	Maximum ionization factor (%)	Rated voltage (kV)	Maximum ionization factor (%)	
10–20	0.60	≤161	0.10	
21–35	0.40	>161	0.05	
36–69	0.20			

Table 7—Maximum	allowable ionization	factor values f	or transition joints

For pressurized cables, the gas or liquid pressure shall be within the operating limits specified by the appropriate AEIC cable standard.

7.5.1 AC voltage test

This test is applicable for all joint types as a design test and as one of the options for premolded and cold shrink joints in a production test.

The test voltage shall be raised at a rate of $5 \pm 3 \text{ kV/s}$ to the value specified in Table 1 or Table 2, column A for extruded dielectric cable joints or Table 3 for laminated dielectric cable joints. The cable joint shall withstand the specified test voltage for the time specified in the tables.

For transition cable joints connecting an extruded dielectric cable to a laminated dielectric cable, the test values and durations should be those of Table 3.

7.5.2 DC voltage test

This test is applicable as a design test for all joint types.

The test voltage shall have a negative polarity (the negative terminal is connected to the conductor of the test specimen) and shall be raised to the value specified in Table 1, Table 2, or Table 3. The cable joint shall withstand the specified test voltage for 15 min.

7.5.3 Impulse voltage (BIL) test

This test is applicable for all joint types as a design test and as one of the options for premolded and cold shrink joints in a production test.

The test voltage wave shape shall be as specified in IEEE Std 4-1995, having the BIL specified in Table 1, Table 2, or Table 3 of this standard. The test procedure (including sample conditioning) shall be as specified in IEEE Std 82-1994.

The cable joint shall withstand 10 positive and 10 negative full-wave impulses with a magnitude equal to the BIL value specified in Table 1, Table 2, or Table 3. Tests at emergency operating temperature shall correspond to the impulse temperature requirements outlined in the applicable standards (see Table 8).

For extruded dielectric cable joints, the test shall be performed first with the conductor temperature at ambient temperature, and then again with the conductor temperature at the maximum emergency operating temperature of the cable. The cable emergency operating temperature shall be determined by reference to the applicable standards (see Table 8). The cable manufacturer should be consulted in the case of special-use cables.

For transition joints, the test shall be performed first with the conductor temperature of both cables at ambient temperature, and then again with the cables at elevated temperature. The elevated temperature is based on the maximum emergency operating conductor temperature of the cable with the lower temperature rating. The cable emergency operating temperature shall be determined by reference to the applicable standards (see Table 8). The cable manufacturer should be consulted in the case of special-use cables.

Cable type	Standard
1.0-69 kV paper-insulated metallic-sheathed	AEIC CS1-90
69-500 kV high-pressure pipe-type	AEIC CS2-97
8-46 kV low-pressure gas-filled	AEIC CS3-90
15-500 kV self-contained	AEIC CS4-93
5-46 kV cross-linked polyethylene	AEIC CS5-94
5-69 kV ethylene propylene rubber	AEIC CS6-96
69-138 kV cross-linked polyethylene	AEIC CS7-93
600 V-28 kV varnished cloth (VC)	NEMA WC4-1988/ICEA S-65-375

Table 8—Reference cable standards for temperature requirements

For laminated dielectric cable joints, the test shall be performed only at the maximum emergency operating conductor temperature of the cable. The reference location for all conductor temperature requirements is midway between the end of the joint and the base of the termination. The cable emergency operating temperature shall be determined by reference to the applicable standards (see Table 8). The cable manufacturer should be consulted in the case of special-use cables.

Elevated conductor temperatures are primarily obtained by circulating ac current in the conductor of the cable. There shall be no current in the metallic shields of the cable or joint. In all cases, the test temperature shall be reported in the test report.

When the impulse withstand test is used as a production test, the cable joint shall withstand one fullwave impulse at each polarity with a magnitude equal to the BIL value specified in Table 1, Table 2, or Table 3.

7.6 Short-time current test

The purpose of this test is to verify that the cable joint is capable of withstanding short-time, shortcircuit currents. The magnitude shall be equal to the short-circuit rating (in rms symmetrical amperes) of the largest size conductor for which the joint is designed for a duration of 0.17 s. The 50 Hz or 60 Hz current magnitude shall be sufficient to raise the cable conductor temperature from ambient to its rated short-circuit temperature . The current magnitude used for this test shall not exceed 35 kA and may be determined by using ICEA P-32-382, utilizing the formulas given to correct the curves to the appropriate ambient temperature condition.

The current magnitude shall be measured in accordance with IEEE C37.09-1979.

The manufacturer shall verify that the short-circuit test did not cause changes that impede the ability of the joint to operate reliably in service.

7.7 Cyclic aging test for extruded dielectric and transition joints

The purpose of this test is to verify that cyclic loading will not adversely affect the ability of the cable joint to operate in air or submerged in water.

7.7.1 Extruded cable joints rated 2.5–35 kV

The test may be conducted on each joint individually or with two or more joints connected in series.

The cable joints shall be assembled on a cable that has an insulation outside diameter that is at or near the minimum diameter for which the cable joint is designed, and shall be subjected to a continuous ac voltage of three times rated phase-to-ground voltage for 30 days. The test shall be performed on a minimum of three cable joints in air and a minimum of three cable joints in tap water, on the same type and size cable. The same six joints are to be used on all cyclic aging tests. The cable joints in water shall be submerged at a minimum depth of 0.3 m, measured from the top surface of the joints. The water shall not be heated or cooled during this test, but shall be left to follow the load cycling unconstrained.

A minimum length of 2 m of cable is required between joint ends and the base of each termination.

The six joints shall be subjected to 30 load cycles. Each load cycle is defined as a 24 h time span with a current-on period and a current-off period. During the current-on period, sufficient ac current shall be passed through the conductor to achieve a cable conductor temperature within ± 5 °C of the cable rated emergency operating temperature for a period of at least 6 h. There shall be no current in the cable metallic shield. The cable emergency operating temperature shall be determined by reference to the applicable standards (see Table 8). The cable manufacturer should be consulted in the case of special-use cables.

The reference location for all conductor temperature requirements is midway between the water surface and the base of the end terminations or midway between the joint end and the base of the end terminations for joints tested in air. The temperature at this location shall not be influenced by the joint, water, or end terminations.

The following information shall be recorded in the test report:

- a) The maximum temperature of the outside of the joint housings in water
- b) The maximum temperature of the outside of the joint housings in air
- c) The temperature of the outside surface of the cables in air
- d) The cable rated emergency operating temperature used to qualify the joint

During the current-off period, the reference cable conductor temperature should drop to within $5^{\circ}C$ of the ambient air temperature. If this condition cannot be met, the test shall be interrupted at the end of the 5th, 10th, 15th, 20th, and 25th cycles. During these interruptions, the voltage, current, and any supplemental heat source shall remain off for a period of 24h to allow the joints to cool as close to room temperature as possible. The load cycle (current and voltage) and supplemental heat source (if used) shall be resumed at the end of the interruption period. This procedure may be followed even if the temperature condition during the current-off period can be met.

The test specimens shall complete 30 load cycles. The 24 h interruption periods are not considered part of a load cycle.

If, for any reason, the voltage or conductor temperature falls below the specified level at any time during any given load cycle, then that load cycle shall be repeated. Load cycles may be contiguous or there may be periods with no voltage and no current between load cycles to accommodate schedule variations or equipment failures.

7.7.2 Extruded cable joints rated 46–500 kV and transition joints rated 2.5–500 kV

The test may be conducted on each joint individually or with two or more joints connected in series. The conductors of multiconductor joints shall be connected in series.

The cable joints shall be assembled on cables that have an insulation outside diameter that is at or near the minimum diameter for which the cable joint is designed. Sheath/shield sectionalizers shall be incorporated if they are part of the joint design. They shall remain shorted until the tests in 7.9 are performed.

Testing shall be performed on four cable joints. The same four joints are to be used for all cyclic aging tests. Multiconductor joints in a common housing are considered one joint. Two joints are suspended in air and two are submerged in tap water to a depth of 1 m. The two samples in water are not required if the joint design incorporates a solid metal housing that is welded or soldered to a solid cable sheath or pipe.

If conduit is used for the in-water portion of this test it shall be made of any appropriate material and shall have an inside diameter that is 50–80 mm larger than the outside diameter of the joint being tested. The conduit (or enclosure) shall be longitudinally centered on the joints and shall extend a minimum of 300 mm beyond each joint end. A minimum length of 2 m of cable is required between the conduit and the base of each end termination for joints tested in water or between the joint ends and the base of each termination for joints tested in air. A vertical tube having a minimum inside diameter of 50 mm shall be attached to the conduit. It shall be of sufficient length to provide the specimen with a head of tap water measuring a minimum of 1 m from the top surface of the joint. The water shall not be heated or cooled during this test, but shall be left to follow the load cycling unconstrained.

The four joints shall be subjected to 30 load cycles. Each load cycle is defined as a 24 h time span with a current-on period and a current-off period. During the current-on period, sufficient ac current shall be passed through the cable conductor to achieve a conductor temperature within ± 5 °C of its rated emergency operating temperature for a period of at least 6h. For transition joints the emergency operating temperature of the cable with the lower rating shall be used. The cable emergency operating temperature shall be determined by reference to the applicable standards (see Table 8). The cable manufacturer should be consulted in the case of special-use cables.

Two times the rated phase to ground ac voltage shall be applied continuously for the 30 cycles. For transition joints, two times the rated phase to ground ac voltage of the cable with the lower rating shall be used. There shall be no current in the cable metallic shield.

The reference location for all conductor temperature requirements is midway between the end of the conduit and the base of the end terminations for joints tested in water or midway between the joint ends and the base of the end terminations for joints tested in air. For transition joints this measurement is made on the cable with the lower temperature rating. The temperature at this location shall not be influenced by the joint, water-filled conduit, or end terminations.

The following information shall be recorded in the test report:

- a) The maximum temperature of the outside of the joint housings in water
- b) The maximum temperature of the outside of the joint housings in air
- c) The temperature of the outside surface of the cables in air
- d) The cable rated emergency operating temperature used to qualify the joint

During the current-off period, the reference cable conductor temperature should drop to within $5^{\circ}C$ of the ambient air temperature. If this condition cannot be met, the test shall be interrupted at the end of the 5th, 10th, 15th, 20th, and 25th cycles. During these interruptions, the voltage and current shall remain off for a period of at least 24 h to allow the joints to cool as close to room temperature as possible. The load cycle (current and voltage) shall be resumed at the end of the interruption period. This procedure may be followed even if the temperature requirement during the current-off period can be met.

The test specimen shall complete 30 load cycles. The 24 h interruption periods are not considered part of a load cycle.

If, for any reason, the voltage or conductor temperature falls below the specified level at any time during any given load cycle, then that load cycle shall be repeated. Load cycles may be contiguous or there may be periods with no voltage and no current between load cycles to accommodate schedule variations or equipment failures.

For transition joints the ionization factor shall be measured as specified in 7.4.2 at the beginning of the test period and at the end of the load cycle test (the completion of 30 cycles). The ionization factor shall be in accordance with Table 7.

For transition joints the internal pressure of the pressurized and laminated dielectric cable shall be maintained at normal operating pressure throughout this test, except for solid-type laminated dielectric cables, which shall have a maximum pressure during the test of 103 kPa (gauge).

7.8 High-voltage time test

The purpose of this test is to verify the electrical integrity of extruded dielectric and transition joints after they are subjected to the cyclic aging tests of 7.7. Table 4 and Table 5 specify the design test sequence. Test voltage is applied as follows:

For extruded dielectric cable joints rated 2.5–35 kV:

- Test voltage specified in Table 1, column C for 5h followed by:
- Test voltage specified in Table 1, column B for 5 min

For extruded dielectric cable joints rated 46–500 kV:

— Test voltage specified in Table 2, column B for 6 h

For transition joints rated 2.5-500 kV:

- Test voltage and time as specified in the ac withstand voltage column of Table 3

All joints subjected to this test shall be completely submerged in ambient temperature tap water. The submersion depth is a minimum of 0.3 m for 2.5-35 kV extruded dielectric cable joints and a minimum of 1 m for 46-500 kV extruded dielectric cable joints and all transition joints. These submersion depths correspond to the submersion depths required during the load cycle tests for each joint construction. They are measured from the top surface of the joint.

The joint shall be submerged for at least 1 h before the test voltage is applied. Samples previously tested in a water-filled conduit may be left in the conduit. Samples previously tested in air shall be submerged in tap water using any convenient method.

7.9 Sectionalizer tests

Cable joints with sectionalizers shall be tested in accordance with the following procedures. All joints subjected to this test shall be completely submerged in ambient temperature tap water. The minimum submersion depth shall be 0.3 m for extruded cable joints rated 2.5–35 kV and 1 m for all other joints. This depth corresponds to the submersion depth required during the load cycle test, subclauses 7.7.1 and 7.7.2, for each joint construction and is measured from the top surface of the joint.

The joint shall be submerged for at least 1 h before the test voltage is applied. Samples previously tested in water may remain there. Samples previously tested in air shall be submerged in tap water using any convenient method.

7.9.1 Sectionalizer ac withstand tests

A voltage of 20 kV ac shall be applied across each sectionalizer for a minimum of 1 min. During this test the water should be grounded for safety. The sectionalizer shall then be shorted and 20 kV ac shall be applied between the sectionalizer and the grounded water for a minimum of 1 min. The sectionalizer shall withstand both tests without arcing across or to ground.

7.9.2 Sectionalizer impulse withstand tests

The impulse test voltage shall be a $1.2 \times 50 \,\mu$ s wave that meets the requirements of IEEE Std 4-1995. Ten 60 kV crest, positive impulses followed by ten 60 kV crest, negative impulses shall be applied across the sectionalizer. The sectionalizer shall then be shortened and ten 30 kV crest, positive impulses followed by ten 30 kV crest, negative impulses shall be applied between the sectionalizer leads (cable shields) and the grounded water. The sectionalizers are considered satisfactory if the impulse voltage is withstood without any physical damage to the joint, cable, or sectionalizer.

7.10 Shielding tests

The purpose of this test is to verify that the cable joint insulation shield will maintain the outer surface effectively at ground potential under normal operating conditions, and initiate fault current arcing if the cable joint insulation system should fail.

The insulation shield of all joint types shall meet the resistivity stability requirement of IEEE Std 592-1990. All joints with exposed semiconducting shields for use on extruded dielectric cables rated 15–35 kV shall meet the short-circuit requirements of IEEE Std 592-1990.

7.11 Connector thermal and mechanical tests

The purpose of these tests is to verify that connectors used to join two aluminium conductors or an aluminium conductor to a copper conductor meet all applicable tests given in ANSI C119.4-1991. The manufacturer should follow a similar test protocol to verify that connectors used between copper conductors will perform reliably in service.

NOTE-the Class A heat cycle test and the Class 2 partial tension test from ANSI C119.4-1991 should be used.

Annex A

(informative)

Bibliography

[B1] ANSI/IEEE Std 575, Guide for the Application of Sheath-Bonding Methods for Single Conductor Cables and the Calculation of Induced Voltages and Currents in Cable Sheaths (Withdrawn).

[B2] CEI/IEC 60502-4, Power Cables with Extruded Insulation and Their Accessories for Rated Voltages from 1 kV up to 30 kV.

[B3] CEI/IEC 60840, Power Cables with Extruded Insulation and Their Accessories for Rated Voltages above $30 \, \text{kV}$ up to $150 \, \text{kV}$.

[B4] ICEA P-32-382 (1999), Short Circuit Characteristics of Insulated Cable.

[B5] IEEE 100, The Authoritative Dictionary of IEEE Standards Terms, Seventh Edition.

[B6] NEMA WC-3-1992/ICEA S-19-81 (R 1986, 1992), Rubber-Insulated Wire and Cable for the Transmission and Distribution of Electrical Energy.

[B7] NEMA WC-5-1992/ICEA S-61-402 (R 1979, 1985, 1992), Thermoplastic-Insulated Wire and Cable for the Transmission and Distribution of Electrical Energy.

[B8] NEMA WC-7-1988/ICEA S-61-524 (R 1992), Cross-Linked Thermosetting-Polyethylene-Insulated Wire and Cable for the Transmission and Distribution of Electrical Energy.

[B9] NEMA WC-8-1988/ICEA S-68-516 (R 1992), Ethylene-Propylene-Rubber-Insulated Wire and Cable for the Transmission and Distribution of Electrical Energy.

[B10] NEMA/ICEA Standard S-94-649 (1997), Standard for Concentric Neutral Cables Rated through 46 kV.